### Non-Hodgkin's lymphomas of the lacrimal sac: Current insights and future directions (Review)

MICHAIL ATHANASOPOULOS<sup>1</sup>, GEORGIOS NOMIKOS<sup>2</sup>, PINELOPI SAMARA<sup>3</sup>, STYLIANOS MASTRONIKOLIS<sup>4</sup>, CHRISTOS TSILIVIGKOS<sup>5</sup> and NICHOLAS S. MASTRONIKOLIS<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Otolaryngology, University Hospital of Patras, 26504 Patras, Greece; <sup>2</sup>Department of Otolaryngology, General Hospital of Nikaia, Piraeus 'Agios Panteleimon', 18454 Athens, Greece; <sup>3</sup>Children's Oncology Unit Marianna V. Vardinoyannis-ELPIDA, Aghia Sophia Children's Hospital, 11527 Athens, Greece; <sup>4</sup>Department of Ophthalmology, Medical School, University of Patras, 26504 Patras, Greece; <sup>5</sup>1st Department of Otolaryngology, Hippocrateion Hospital, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, 11527 Athens, Greece

Received March 11, 2024; Accepted May 31, 2024

DOI: 10.3892/mi.2024.167

Abstract. Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (NHL) of the lacrimal sac is a rare, yet clinically significant entity within the spectrum of ocular malignancies. While primary lacrimal sac lymphoma is uncommon, it poses unique diagnostic and therapeutic challenges due to its anatomical location and potential for aggressive behavior. Despite advancements being made in the current understanding and treatment of NHL, research that specifically addresses the involvement of the lacrimal sac is currently lacking. Thus, the present review aimed to provide insight into the epidemiology, clinical presentation, diagnostic modalities, histopathological features, treatment strategies and prognosis of lacrimal sac NHL. Through a methodical analysis of previous literature, the present review highlights the diverse spectrum of NHL subtypes that affect the lacrimal sac, including diffuse large B-cell lymphoma, extranodal marginal zone lymphoma, mantle cell lymphoma and follicular lymphoma. Moreover, the present review discusses the role of advanced imaging techniques in accurate staging and treatment planning, including computed tomography (CT), magnetic resonance imaging and positron emission tomography-CT. The present review also discusses evolving treatment approaches, such as surgical intervention, chemotherapy, radiotherapy, immunotherapy, combinations of the aforementioned treatments and targeted therapy. In addition, the present review highlights the significance of multidisciplinary collaboration in attaining optimal outcomes for individuals with lacrimal sac NHL. The present review aimed to provide a basis for

E-mail: miathanasopoulos@gmail.com

'further investigations into novel treatment modalities and prognostic markers that may aid in guiding personalized management strategies, ultimately improving outcomes for patients with NHL.

#### Contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Epidemiology and classification
- 3. Clinical presentation: Signs and symptoms of lacrimal sac NHL
- 4. Differential diagnosis from alternate lacrimal sac pathologies
- 5. The importance of early detection and diagnosis in lacrimal sac NHL
- 6. Prognostic assessment for NHL: The role of the International Prognostic Index (IPI)
- 7. Pathogenesis and risk factors of lacrimal sac NHL
- 8. Prognosis, long-term outcomes and survival rates of patients with lacrimal sac NHL
- 9. Diagnostic approaches
- 10. Diagnostic significance of histopathological examination and immunohistochemistry: The analysis of DLBCL
- 11. Treatment modalities
- 12. Gaps in current knowledge and future perspectives
- 13. Conclusions

#### 1. Introduction

Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (NHL) includes a diverse group of diseases originating from lymphoid tissues, encompassing a wide range of histological subtypes and clinical presentations. In 85-90% of cases, NHL arises from B-cells, with less frequent occurrences from natural killer and T-cells. The pathogenesis of NHL is multifactorial, involving genetic, environmental and immunological factors. Chromosomal translocations, gene mutations and dysregulated signaling pathways, such as the B-cell receptor pathway, the NF- $\kappa$ B pathway, and the PI3K-AKT-mTOR pathway, contribute to the

*Correspondence to:* Dr Michail Athanasopoulos, Department of Otolaryngology, University Hospital of Patras, Atherionos 8, 26504 Patras, Greece

*Key words:* lacrimal sac, non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, chemotherapy, radiotherapy, immunotherapy

overall development of NHL. These alterations disrupt normal cellular processes, leading to uncontrolled proliferation and the survival of malignant lymphocytes (1).

As one of the most prevalent hematological conditions worldwide, NHL poses significant diagnostic and therapeutic challenges due to its heterogeneous nature and variable clinical courses. NHL accounts for 3-4% of all cancer cases annually, with notable geographic and ethnic variations in incidence, placing it among the top ten most common malignancies in developed countries. The overall incidence of NHL has continued to increase over the past few decades, partly due to improved diagnostic techniques and changes in risk factors (2). Moreover, NHL-associated deaths account for ~2.5% of all cancer-related deaths (3). While NHL commonly affects the lymph nodes, extranodal involvement may occur in various organs and tissues throughout the body, including the ocular adnexa. Among these extranodal sites, the lacrimal sac represents a rare, yet clinically significant location for NHL development (4).

The lacrimal sac, located in the medial canthal region of the orbit, is crucial for tear drainage into the nasolacrimal duct. Positioned within the anteromedial orbit wall, it resides within a concave fossa bordered by the anterior and posterior lacrimal crests, separated by the lacrimomaxillary suture (5). Notably, there are histological similarities with the nasolacrimal duct, and the conical portion within this fossa is identified as the lacrimal sac. Encased laterally by the lacrimal fascia and posteriorly by the common fascia of Horner's muscle, it forms the lacrimal diaphragm (6). The sac measures 9.8-11.0 mm in height, 7.5 mm in anteroposterior diameter and 3.0-4.9 mm in horizontal diameter, featuring a lining composed of stratified columnar epithelium with goblet cells, serous glands and cilia (7). Elastic fibers within the lamina propria aid in its function as a pump (8), while the submucosa contains lacrimal drainage-associated lymphoid tissue, contributing to the defense of the nasolacrimal system (9) (Fig. 1).

Primary NHL of the lacrimal sac is uncommon, with the majority of cases arising secondary to systemic lymphoproliferative disorders (10). NHL subtypes that affect the lacrimal sac include diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL), extranodal marginal zone lymphoma (MZL), mantle cell lymphoma (MCL) and follicular lymphoma (FL). Due to its proximity to the nasal cavity, the lacrimal sac is vulnerable to mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue (MALT) lymphoma, a subset of extranodal MZL. Despite its small size, the lacrimal sac accumulates lymphoid tissue and participates in immune surveillance, predisposing it to MALT lymphoma (11). The clinical presentation of lacrimal sac NHL is often indicative of a benign condition, such as dacryocystitis or nasolacrimal duct obstruction, leading to complexities in diagnosis and delayed identification. In addition, the effective management of lacrimal sac NHL requires a multidisciplinary approach, involving ophthalmologists, otolaryngologists, oncologists, pathologists and radiation oncologists, to ensure accuracy in diagnosis, staging and treatment.

The present review aimed to provide a comprehensive overview of lacrimal sac NHL, encapsulating the epidemiology, clinical manifestations, diagnostic modalities, histopathological features, treatment strategies and prognosis. Through the analysis of previous literature and clinical experience, the present review aimed to provide current insight into



Figure 1. Illustration depicting the anatomy of the efferent lacrimal system, including the lacrimal canaliculi, lacrimal sac, nasolacrimal duct, and associated structures. This system facilitates the drainage of tears from the ocular surface into the nasal cavity (the figure was created using BioRender.com).

this disease, and determine potential future investigations to improve patient outcomes.

#### 2. Epidemiology and classification

The incidence and prevalence of lacrimal sac NHL. Lacrimal sac tumors are uncommon in medical practice. In total, ~55% of these tumors are malignant, with ~71% originating from epithelial cells (12). Among lacrimal sac tumors, lymphomas account for 2-8% (13). These lymphomas are often secondary occurrences due to lymphatic metastasis from other regions, with primary lacrimal lymphomas being particularly uncommon. Notably, primary lacrimal sac lymphomas often manifest in older individuals, affecting a patient population with a median age of 71 years (range, 45-95 years). In addition, ~80% of affected patients are >60 years of age (14). Therefore, the majority of documented cases arise within the elderly demographic, with a notable predominance among females.

NHL occurrences in pediatric patients are infrequent, as the median ages of patients affected by DLBCL and MALT lymphomas are ~70 and ~60 years, respectively. Lacrimal sac NHL is exceptionally rare in children. To date, few pediatric cases of primary NHL of the lacrimal drainage system have been reported. Previous reports have detailed the cases of a poorly differentiated lymphoma (15), MALT lymphoma (16-18) and DLBCL (19-21).

Subtypes, classification and staging of lacrimal sac NHL. The main subtypes encountered in lacrimal sac NHL include DLBCL, MALT lymphoma, MCL and FL. Briefly, DLBCL is characterized by a diffuse growth pattern of large B-cells with enlarged nuclei. However, various subtypes of this lymphoma have been identified, each with unique morphological, biological and clinical features. MALT lymphoma often exhibits a low grade; however, this may evolve into DLBCL. In addition, DLBCL exhibits an indolent nature. MCL originates from B-cells in the mantle zone of lymphoid follicles and is often associated with the t(11;14) (q13;q32) chromosomal abnormality, resulting in the upregulation of cyclin D1. FL arises from germinal center B-cells and typically presents with follicular growth patterns. It is often characterized by the t(14;18) (q32;q21) chromosomal translocation, leading to the upregulation of BCL2. Other rare subtypes of lacrimal sac



Table I. Staging classification for NHL: Overview of stage definitions.

Stages	Characteristics
I	Involvement confined to one lymph region or a single extranodal site
II	Presence of the disease in two or more lymph regions on the same side of the diaphragm, possibly with limited contiguous extranodal involvement
III	Involvement in the lymph nodes, spleen, or both, and occurring on both sides of the diaphragm
IV	Extranodal involvement, such as in the bone marrow, lungs, or liver
NHL, nc	n-Hodgkin's lymphoma.

Table II. Symptoms of NHL involving the lacrimal sac, presenting the most commonly observed symptoms first, progressing to those seen in more advanced stages.

Symptoms

Epiphora

Persistent edema or a mass in the medial canthal region

Redness or irritation of the eye

Discharge from the inner corner of the eye (clear, mucoid, or purulent)

Recurrent eye infections

Pain or discomfort around the eye

Eyelid ptosis

Decreased visual accuracy

Diplopia/visual disturbances

Proptosis/displacement of the eye

Retrobulbar resistance

Chemosis

Nasal symptoms (sinusitis, nasal obstruction, epistaxis)

NHL, non-Hodgkin's lymphoma.

NHL include peripheral T-cell lymphoma, Burkitt's lymphoma and lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma (22).

Classifications are based on morphology, phenotype, cytology, genetics and molecular features, along with clinical characteristics, etiology and pathogenesis. Tumor classification is carried out to define the plethora of subtypes based on cellular origin. Over the years, lymphoma staging systems have evolved, incorporating criteria for therapy response assessment with computed tomography (CT) and positron emission tomography (PET)-CT. The Lugano classification, introduced in 2014, standardizes staging and response evaluation for both Hodgkin's lymphoma and NHL, building on the previous Ann Arbor system that originated in the 1970s (Table I) (23).

Various stages of NHL are subdivided into categories denoted by letters; namely, A, B, E, S and X, depending on the presence or absence of symptoms in affected individuals. Briefly, category A signifies the absence of systemic symptoms at the time of diagnosis, category B indicates the presence of B symptoms (night sweats, unexplained fever and/or unexplained weight loss), category E indicates that the malignancy affects a single organ outside the lymphatic system or has extended from a lymph node to another organ, category S signifies the involvement of the spleen, and category X denotes the presence of large masses of lymphoma (bulky disease).

While the Lugano/Ann Arbor staging systems rely on imaging techniques along with the presence or absence of B symptoms, they fall short in precisely locating lacrimal sac tumors and determining their extension into neighboring structures. This limitation is effectively addressed by the Tumor, Node, Metastasis (TNM) staging system provided by the 8th edition of The American Joint Committee on Cancer. This system categorizes primary tumor location and regional extension (T), lymph node involvement and severity (N), and the presence or absence of distant involvement of extranodal organs outside of the ocular adnexal region (M), including the bone marrow (24).

## **3.** Clinical presentation: Signs and symptoms of lacrimal sac NHL

In the early stages of NHL, patients may not experience symptoms. However, the majority of patients with NHL typically present with concurrent lymphadenopathy and potential B symptoms. Notably, pain is not commonly reported. Additional symptoms may manifest depending on the organ involved (25).

When the lacrimal sac is affected, specific symptoms often include epiphora, persistent edema or a mass in the medial canthal region, redness or irritation of the eye, discharge from the inner corner of the eye (clear, mucoid or purulent), recurrent eye infections, pain or discomfort around the eye and eyelid ptosis (26). Occasionally, initial symptoms may manifest as acute dacryocystitis (27) or individuals may experience recurrent episodes of dacryocystitis (28). In the case that lacrimal sac NHL extends into adjacent structures of the eye or the nose, or involves blood vessels within the lacrimal sac area, additional symptoms may be experienced by patients. These symptoms may include decreased visual accuracy, diplopia/visual disturbances, proptosis/displacement of the eye, retrobulbar resistance or chemosis, as well as symptoms affecting the nasal cavity, such as sinusitis, nasal obstruction and epistaxis (Table II) (29).

The diagnosis of lacrimal sac tumors may be challenging. In the absence of a palpable mass, experienced ophthalmologists may negate various factors. Lymphoma may originate from lacrimal drainage-associated lymphoid tissue, potentially causing epiphora without a palpable mass in the early stages (30). Dacryocystography (DCG) is used to reveal a filling defect indicative of a lacrimal sac tumor (31), while blood-stained discharge is often indicative of advanced disease stages. A palpable mass or edema, particularly above the medial canthal tendon, is a key indicator of a lacrimal tumor.

## 4. Differential diagnosis from alternate lacrimal sac pathologies

Conditions affecting the lacrimal sac exhibit considerable variation, yet their symptomatology often remains consistent across cases. A diverse range of tumor types may occur within this system, broadly classified into three groups; namely, primary epithelial, primary non-epithelial and inflammatory lesions. Primary epithelial tumors commonly include squamous cell carcinoma, papilloma and transitional cell carcinoma. Primary non-epithelial tumors include malignant lymphoma, fibrous histiocytoma and malignant melanoma. Inflammatory lesions often consist of sarcoidosis, Wegener granulomatosis and pyogenic granuloma (32).

Given the nature of lacrimal sac pathologies, a comprehensive medical history and thorough physical examination are essential for an accurate diagnosis. Ancillary diagnostic tools, such as DCG, CT and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), are crucial in guiding diagnosis and for treatment planning by providing detailed anatomical information (33). However, an incisional biopsy of the lesion for histopathological and cytological examination remains the gold standard for a definitive diagnosis, particularly in suspected tumor cases (34). This approach is crucial for guiding the formulation of the most appropriate treatment strategy.

# 5. The importance of early detection and diagnosis in lacrimal sac NHL

The early detection and diagnosis of lacrimal sac NHL are crucial for optimizing treatment outcomes, preserving the quality of life and improving the overall prognosis of patients. Timely intervention enables healthcare providers to develop personalized treatment plans, prevent disease progression and minimize complications, such as local invasion, the requirement for reconstruction and metastasis to distant sites. With early diagnosis, patients may have a higher chance of achieving complete remission and may experience fewer symptoms. Moreover, early detection may reduce healthcare costs associated with aggressive late-stage treatments, and provide patients and their families with timely counseling, improving their overall understanding of the condition. Therefore, regular eye examinations and the prompt evaluation of any concerning symptoms are essential for individuals who are at risk of developing lacrimal sac NHL, such as those with a history of chronic dacryocystitis, previous radiation therapy to the head and neck, immunodeficiency disorders, or a family history of lymphoproliferative diseases (2).

## 6. Prognostic assessment for NHL: The role of the International Prognostic Index (IPI)

The prognosis of lacrimal sac NHL is dependent on tumor type, malignancy, disease stage, tumor grade and the overall health of the patient. IPI is a useful tool for outcome predictions, as stated by the International Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma Prognostic Factors Project 1993 (35). This project accounts for several factors, including age (as patients >60 years of age may exhibit a poorer prognosis), performance status (as a poorer performance status may be indicative of a worse prognosis), stage of disease, serum lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) levels, with elevations associated with a poorer prognosis, and number of extranodal sites involved, as the involvement of multiple extranodal sites may be indicative of a worse prognosis. Each of these factors is assigned a score, and the total score is used to categorize patients into low-, intermediate- or high-risk groups (35). Patient grouping aids clinicians in determining appropriate treatment strategies and predicting patient outcomes.

The IPI was structured around patients receiving cyclophosphamide, hydroxydaunorubicin, Oncovin (vincristine) and prednisone (CHOP) chemotherapy. Notably, the addition of the chimeric anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody, rituximab, to traditional CHOP chemotherapy (R-CHOP) may be used in some patients (36). The restructuring of the IPI parameters into a revised version (R-IPI) yields a more clinically insightful prognosis. The R-IPI stratifies patients into three distinct prognostic groups, namely, very favorable [4-year progression-free survival (PFS), 94%; overall survival (OS), 94%]; favorable (4-year PFS, 80%; OS, 79%); and unfavorable (4-year PFS, 53%; OS, 55%) outcomes (37).

#### 7. Pathogenesis and risk factors of lacrimal sac NHL

The pathogenesis of lacrimal sac NHL is characterized by a dysregulated lymphocyte proliferation within the lacrimal sac, culminating in tumor formation. While the precise etiology remains elusive, a complex interplay of factors contributes to its development. Immunodeficiency, stemming from conditions, such as HIV/AIDS (38) or post-organ transplantation immunosuppression (39), creates a conducive environment for lymphoma emergence. Chronic inflammation, often associated with conditions such as chronic dacryocystitis, may exacerbate lymphocyte activation and proliferation, thus promoting tumorigenesis (40). Infectious agents, including Epstein-Barr virus and human herpesvirus 8, are implicated in the pathogenesis of NHL, with the potential to direct stimulate lymphocyte proliferation and malignant transformation (41).

Genetic predisposition also plays a role, with alterations in lymphocyte regulatory genes promoting uncontrolled cell growth and tumor initiation. Notably, various genetic susceptibility loci for DLBCL have been identified through genome-wide association studies, and these have highlighted the role of pathways associated with immune recognition and immune function (42). Moreover, environmental factors, such as exposure to certain toxins or chemicals, may contribute to the development of NHL; however, this notion remains to be fully elucidated.

Risk factors, such as advanced age, may increase the susceptibility to lacrimal sac NHL development, due to immunosenescence and accumulated genetic mutations. Females also exhibit a higher predisposition to this disease. In addition, individuals with a previous history of lymphoma or other hematologic malignancies may also be at an increased risk, as a result of hormonal factors and potential shared genetic



predispositions. Autoimmune diseases, such as Sjögren's syndrome, which involve chronic inflammation and immune dysregulation, further increase the susceptibility to lacrimal sac NHL development (43). In addition, systemic immunosuppression and certain medications may compromise immune surveillance, promoting lymphoma development. Occupational exposures with potential carcinogenic agents, such as pesticides, solvents, dyes, engine exhaust, wood dust, wood finishing chemicals and various microbes, are also associated with an increased risk of this disease. The identification of specific agents remains challenging (44).

Overall, the pathogenesis and risk factors for lacrimal sac NHL are multifaceted, encompassing a dynamic interplay of immunological, environmental, genetic and infectious elements. Understanding these complex mechanisms is crucial for elucidating disease progression and developing targeted therapeutic interventions.

## 8. Prognosis, long-term outcomes and survival rates of patients with lacrimal sac NHL

Numerous factors have been identified as independent predictive indicators of a poor OS in cases of ocular NHL. Factors include a patient age of >59, elevated LDH levels, advanced tumor stage, high-grade histological subgroups and the presence of B symptoms. Specifically, in ocular adnexal DLBCL, concurrent bone marrow involvement is recognized as an independent adverse prognostic factor (45). Furthermore, p53 expression levels are associated with the presence of the Ki-67 antigen, and this association is indicative of clinical outcomes (46).

Disease localization may affect the survival rates of patients, with a notably high 5-year survival rate of 90.9% when the disease is confined to one area. However, prognosis is less favorable in patients with advanced-stage disease, with a 5-year survival rate of 23.5% (47). In the broader category of lacrimal sac lymphomas, the overall 5-year survival rate is 65% (14). Notably, female patients with lymphoma affecting the lacrimal drainage system may experience more pronounced symptoms and demonstrate a heightened likelihood of disease recurrence. However, the precise association between this tumor and hormonal response remains to be established (48,49).

#### 9. Diagnostic approaches

During a clinical examination, distinguishing between benign and malignant lymphoid lesions remains challenging. Thus, obtaining a tumor biopsy is imperative for accurate diagnosis and the initiation of required systemic assessments.

*Imaging studies: Challenges and advances in lacrimal sac NHL*. Conventional imaging modalities, such as CT and MRI, play a crucial role in the initial assessment of lacrimal sac NHL, providing valuable information on disease location, severity and anatomical features, for accurate diagnosis and treatment planning. CT imaging is useful for detecting bony erosion, whereas MRI provides insight into the characteristics of NHL (50). However, both CT and MRI exhibit limitations in the precise characterization of lacrimal sac lesions, due to their limited soft tissue resolution. Challenges include distinguishing between benign and malignant lesions, accurate disease staging and evaluating treatment response. Moreover, the proximity of the lacrimal sac to critical structures, such as the orbit and nasal cavity, requires the precise delineation of tumor involvement.

Advanced imaging techniques, such as fluorine-18-fludeoxyglucose PET-CT and diffusion-weighted imaging, exhibit potential in improving diagnostic accuracy through acquiring functional and metabolic information. PET-CT imaging also aids in treatment response assessment and disease recurrence detection (51). Notably, interpreting imaging findings in lacrimal sac NHL requires expertise and collaboration among clinicians to ensure accurate diagnosis and optimal patient care.

Guo *et al* (52) revealed that MALT lymphomas typically exhibit homogeneous and isointense patterns on both T1WI and T2WI MRI sequences, along with mild to moderate enhancement and a plateau pattern on dynamic contrast-enhanced MRI. Notably, the results of their study demonstrated that in some cases, lacrimal sac lymphomas may lead to enlarged lacrimal ducts with bone compression, without evidence of bone erosion. These factors may be associated with the low-grade nature of the MALT lymphoma (52).

Molecular insights into lacrimal sac NHL: Unraveling diagnostic subtypes and biomarkers with a focus on DLBCL. The molecular mechanisms underlying lacrimal sac NHL are complex and are not yet fully established due to the rarity of this condition. However, several key pathways and genetic alterations have been implicated in the pathogenesis of NHL, which may also apply to tumors affecting the lacrimal sac.

The dysregulation of B cell signaling is common, leading to uncontrolled proliferation and the survival of malignant B cells. Genetic abnormalities, including chromosomal translocations, gene mutations and copy number alterations, play a critical role in lymphomagenesis. The dysregulation of apoptosis and cell cycle control pathways contributes to the survival and proliferation of malignant lymphocytes in NHL. The tumor microenvironment, comprising immune cells, stromal cells and extracellular matrix components, plays a crucial role in the pathogenesis of NHL. Crosstalk between malignant lymphocytes and the microenvironment promotes tumor growth, immune evasion and treatment resistance. Epigenetic modifications, including DNA methylation, histone modifications and non-coding RNA dysregulation, also contribute to the pathogenesis of NHL by regulating gene expression patterns (53,54).

Molecular diagnostics are crucial for confirming the subtype of lacrimal sac NHL and identifying associated biomarkers, which are essential for accurate diagnosis and the development of personalized treatment strategies. Moreover, molecular biomarkers provide valuable prognostic insight, such as the aggressiveness of the disease and the likelihood of treatment response. Biomarkers may include gene mutations, protein expression levels, or other molecular signatures associated with disease progression and patient outcomes.

Through gene expression profiling, DLBCL is stratified into two prognostically significant subtypes; namely, germinal center (GC) B-cell-like (GCB) and activated B-cell-like (ABC) lymphoma (55). In a previous study, by examining the genomic landscape of 337 patients that were newly diagnosed with DLBCL, a simplified 38-gene algorithm identified seven distinct genetic subtypes. These subtypes, including TP53Mut, MCD-like, BN2-like, N1-like, EZB-like and ST2-like, were associated with unique clinical outcomes and biological features. Notably, the TP53Mut subtype was shown to be associated with a poor prognosis due to p53 dysregulation, while the MCD-like subtype was related to unfavorable outcomes associated with BCL2/MYC double-expression and NF- $\kappa$ B activation. Conversely, the BN2-like subtype demonstrated a favorable response within ABC-DLBCL and featured NF- $\kappa$ B activation (56).

Notably, dysregulated signaling pathways, including those involved in B-cell receptor signaling and immune checkpoint regulation, contribute to the tumor-promoting microenvironment in lacrimal sac NHL. Understanding this interplay may aid in identifying novel therapeutic targets and immunomodulatory strategies. Technological advances that enable the characterization of heterogeneous cell populations within tumors may provide insight into the tumor microenvironment. Incorporating such approaches into future research may lead to more effective treatments tailored to the specific molecular and immune landscape of lacrimal sac NHL.

## **10.** Diagnostic significance of histopathological examination and immunohistochemistry: The analysis of DLBCL

Due to cost and limited accessibility, the implementation of molecular approaches in routine clinical practice is challenging. As an alternative, immunohistochemistry (IHC)-based algorithms have gained attention due to their user-friendly and practical application in pathology laboratories. These techniques allow pathologists to analyze tissue samples obtained through biopsy or surgical excision, providing valuable insight into the histological subtype, grade and immunophenotype of the tumor. IHC aids in the identification of specific cell markers and protein expression patterns, which ultimately leads to the classification of NHL subtypes and differentiation from other benign or malignant conditions.

Several markers are measured in NHL to aid in diagnosis, prognosis and treatment planning. Commonly assessed markers include CD20, CD3, CD5, CD10, BCL6, BCL2, Ki-67, MYC and cyclin D1. These markers aid in identifying the type of lymphoma, assessing tumor aggressiveness and guiding treatment decisions (57).

The method devised by Hans *et al* (58), which used IHC, was initially carried out for the categorization of DLBCL into GC and non-GC subtypes. This algorithm utilizes the expression of CD10, BCL6 and MUM1 proteins. This method requires only three widely available antibodies, thus leading to its widespread use compared with alternate subtyping algorithms for DLBCL. Moreover, that study demonstrated a strong association between the Hans algorithm and gene expression profiles, revealing distinct survival outcomes between the GCB and ABC DLBCL groups (58). However, subsequent investigations yielded varying results, with some affirming the prognostic value of the Hans algorithm, and others failing to identify statistically significant differences between subgroups (59).

Through the combination of imaging, clinical assessment and immunophenotypic analysis, clinicians may achieve a comprehensive understanding of the disease. Following the diagnosis of lacrimal sac NHL, patients undergo an extensive oncologic workup, which includes imaging that covers areas beyond the lacrimal sac region. Moreover, laboratory analyses and bone marrow biopsies are integral components of the diagnostic process, ensuring a thorough assessment of the extent of the disease and any associated characteristics.

#### 11. Treatment modalities

There are no standardized treatment protocols for the management of lacrimal sac NHL. However, several crucial factors are used to guide the initial assessment and tailor optimal treatment strategies. These factors include the following: i) the specific histopathological subtype of the lymphoma; ii) the extent of disease involvement both locally in the ocular region and systemically; iii) prognostic indicators relevant to both the patient and the disease itself; and iv) the impact of the lymphoma on visual function. Typically, a multimodal approach involving surgery, chemotherapy, radiotherapy, immunotherapy or targeted therapy is used. However, total surgical resection of orbital lymphoma is generally discouraged due to the potential risk of ocular damage and subsequent vision loss. Surgery is typically reserved for diagnostic purposes rather than therapeutic intervention. Consequently, treatment decisions are highly individualized, and these vary from one patient to another (Fig. 2).

Surgery: Resection and/or reconstruction. Current surgical guidelines recommend the surgical removal of lacrimal sac tumors. Fine-needle aspiration biopsy remains a contentious technique compared with open biopsy, with the latter being favored in some studies. Incisional biopsy may be valuable when confirmation of a lacrimal sac tumor is difficult; thus, this process may be aided by subsequent immunohistochemical analysis for the confirmation of malignancy.

Treatment modalities vary depending on tumor type, with benign tumors typically managed through excision with dacryocystorhinostomy (DCR) or dacryocystectomy (DCT). Aggressive malignancies may require removal of the entire lacrimal drainage system, including orbital exenteration and paranasal sinus resection for extensive lesions. The total excision of the lacrimal sac (DCT without osteotomy) is the preferred approach for suspected lacrimal sac tumors, with planned modified DCR or reconstruction considered post-histological confirmation (60).

In a case series reported by Kadir *et al* (61), 60% of patients with lacrimal sac tumors initially underwent DCT with excision biopsy followed by planned modified DCR, based on tumor pathology and therapeutic response. Deep incisional biopsy was conducted in 40% of cases to ensure an accurate diagnosis. While the surgical extraction of lacrimal sac tumors is a common approach, the resection of orbital cell lymphoma is not advisable due to the elevated cure rates associated with non-surgical treatments and the potential risk of harming the eye. Therefore, extensive surgery should be avoided to maintain adequate cosmesis and preserve eye function (61). For lymphomas of the lacrimal sac, excision of the lesion with DCR or DCT is the preferred therapeutic approach.





Figure 2. Schematic representation of the stages involved from the onset of symptoms related to the lacrimal sac, leading to the diagnosis of NHL (including biopsy, histopathology, immunochemistry and imaging), followed by the patient's comprehensive treatment plan (involving chemotherapy, immunotherapy, targeted therapy and radiotherapy) aimed at achieving complete remission and minimizing recurrence (the figure was created using BioRender.com). NHL, non-Hodgkin's lymphoma.

*Chemotherapy, radiotherapy, immunotherapy and targeted therapy.* Primary treatment for lacrimal sac lymphoma typically involves chemotherapy and/or radiotherapy. Chemotherapy is used in the treatment of lacrimal sac NHL, particularly in cases unresponsive to local therapies (62). Systemic chemotherapy is not recommended for patients of an advanced age, or for patients with a poor performance status or concurrent comorbidities (63).

Commonly used chemotherapeutic regimens include CHOP, cyclophosphamide, etoposide, vincristine, and prednisone (CEOP), cyclophosphamide, vincristine and prednisone (COP/CVP), cyclophosphamide, vincristine, procarbazine and prednisone (C-MOPP) and chlorambucil, and each regimen is tailored to the specific condition and response of the patient (64). The combination of chemotherapy and immunotherapy, particularly rituximab, exhibits potential in the management of lacrimal sac NHL. Rituximab has demonstrated efficacy either as a monotherapy or in combination with chemotherapy. In a recent study, notable response rates were observed in 27% of patients who received rituximab (65).

The effective management of aggressive NHL in elderly and unfit patients is challenging due to the cardiotoxicity associated with anthracyclines, despite their proven therapeutic efficacy in this lymphoma subtype. The rituximab, cyclophosphamide, oncovin (vincristine), methotrexate, and prednisone (R-COMP) regimen is comparable to rituximab-CHOP (R-CHOP); however, this regimen uses 50 mg/m<sup>2</sup> Myocet in the place of doxorubicin. Notable decreases or low occurrences of severe cardiac adverse events have been observed in patients treated with R-COMP (66). Rigacci *et al* (66) conducted an in-depth retrospective analysis of 946 patients with DLBCL who received R-COMP. All included patients were aged >65 years and/or presented with underlying cardiopathy. The findings of that study validated the effectiveness of the R-COMP regimen, with a reported 3-year OS rate of 70%. These results were comparable with those obtained using R-CHOP. Notably, the incidence of cardiotoxicity was markedly low, with only 5% of patients experiencing grade 3-4 adverse events (66). These results indicated that non-pegylated liposomal doxorubicin retains therapeutic effectiveness while mitigating adverse effects.

In addition, research has focused on novel agents, such as ibrutinib, an irreversible Bruton's tyrosine kinase inhibitor. Although initially approved for chronic lymphocytic leukemia/small lymphocytic lymphoma and relapsed/refractory MCL, ibrutinib demonstrated potential in other B-cell lymphomas, including those affecting the lacrimal sac. The results of a previous study demonstrated the efficacy of ibrutinib in patients with ABC DLBCL, with an overall response rate of 37%. Moreover, the combination of ibrutinib with R-CHOP was safe in patients with untreated B-cell lymphoma (67). While chemotherapy remains fundamental in the treatment of lacrimal sac NHL, combining it with immunotherapy/targeted therapy, such as rituximab or ibrutinib, exhibits potential in improving therapeutic outcomes and patient prognosis.

Radiotherapy exhibits potential as the ideal treatment modality for both slow-progressing orbital lymphomas and aggressive NHL, with high local control rates and minimal toxicity. Recommended radiation doses vary based on the location of NHL and histological type, with typical doses ranging from 30 to 45 Gy for localized lacrimal sac lymphomas (68). Combining short-course chemotherapy with radiotherapy may exhibit potential in obtaining optimal cure rates with reduced toxicity.

External-beam radiation therapy (EBRT) is effective in the treatment of localized low-grade ocular adnexal lymphoma, with the potential for achieving local disease control rates of up to 100%, and low recurrence rates that do not exceed 15%. In 50% of the patients studied, Fernández *et al* (65) demonstrated that EBRT exhibited potential as the primary therapeutic approach, highlighting the effectiveness in this disease. The results of previous studies demonstrated high local control rates with EBRT, including a 7-year local control rate of 97% in patients with localized MALT lymphoma treated with a dose of 25 Gy (69), and a 5-year local control rate of 95% in patients treated with doses of 24 to 25.5 Gy (70). In addition, palliative or re-irradiation doses of 4 Gy yielded a complete response rate of ~85% in patients with indolent ocular adnexal lymphoma (71). Collectively, these results highlight the effectiveness of radiotherapy in achieving disease control while minimizing treatment-associated adverse events.

Further research and clinical trials that specifically focus on ocular NHL are required, in order to fully elucidate the efficacy and potential of these innovative treatment modalities in effectively managing this condition.

#### 12. Gaps in current knowledge and future perspectives

Challenges in research, unanswered questions and areas requiring further investigation. Research in lacrimal sac NHL faces several challenges, primarily due to the rarity of this malignancy. The limited availability of tissue samples and insufficient data on disease mechanisms impact the understanding and development of targeted therapeutic strategies. In addition, a lack of standardized diagnostic criteria and treatment protocols may lead to variability in study outcomes and limited comparability between studies.

Despite advances, several unanswered questions remain regarding lacrimal sac NHL. Key areas requiring further investigation include elucidating the exact molecular pathways underlying disease development and progression, identifying novel biomarkers for early detection and prognosis, and optimizing treatment approaches to improve outcomes and reduce treatment-related toxicities. In addition, further investigations are required to focus on the role of immune dysregulation, environmental factors and genetic predisposition in the disease pathogenesis.

Implications for personalized medicine. The emergence of personalized medicine exhibits potential in the treatment of lacrimal sac NHL. Through the integration of genomic profiling, molecular characterization and clinical data, personalized treatment strategies can be tailored to individual patients, optimizing therapeutic efficacy while minimizing adverse effects. Moreover, advancements in precision medicine may facilitate the development of targeted therapies, immunotherapies and novel treatment modalities specifically designed to target the unique molecular signatures of lacrimal sac NHL subtypes. Collaborative efforts among researchers, clinicians and industry stakeholders are essential for translating these insights into clinical practice, ultimately improving patient outcomes.

#### 13. Conclusions

In conclusion, lacrimal sac NHL is a rare malignancy originating in the lymphoid tissue of the lacrimal drainage system. Diagnosis often involves clinical evaluation, imaging studies and tissue biopsy. Treatment options may include surgery, chemotherapy, radiotherapy, immunotherapy, targeted therapy or a combination of the aforementioned strategies, depending on the severity and characteristics of the disease. Surgical excision combined with chemotherapy typically yields favorable outcomes, with adjuvant radiotherapy applied in some cases. Advanced imaging techniques aid in accurate disease staging and treatment planning, contributing to improved patient outcomes. Despite advances in research, the diagnosis and treatment of lacrimal sac NHL remains challenging due to the rarity of the disease. Thus, multidisciplinary approaches are required. Further research into the molecular mechanisms underlying lacrimal sac NHL and potential targeted therapies is crucial for refining clinical strategies. Further understanding of treatment efficacy and the importance of individualized approaches tailored to patient characteristics and disease stage is critical for improving care and prognosis. Continued efforts and collaborations in this field are essential to enhance diagnostic and therapeutic methods, ultimately leading to improved patient outcomes and quality of life.

#### Acknowledgements

Not applicable.

#### Funding

No funding was received.

#### Availability of data and materials

Not applicable.

#### Authors' contributions

MA conceived, designed the study, and wrote the original draft. GN, SM, CT were involved in the curation of data from the literature for inclusion in the present review and wrote the original draft of the manuscript. PS wrote, reviewed and edited the manuscript. NSM supervised and critically edited the manuscript. All authors have read and approved the submitted and final versions of the manuscript. Data authentication is not applicable.

#### Ethics approval and consent to participate

Not applicable.

#### Patient consent for publication

Not applicable.

#### **Competing interests**

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

#### References

- Singh R, Shaik S, Negi BS, Rajguru JP, Patil PB, Parihar AS, and Sharma U: Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma: A review. J Family Med Prim Care 9: 1834-1840, 2020.
- Ekström-Smedby K: Epidemiology and etiology of non-Hodgkin lymphoma-a review. Acta Oncol 45: 258-271, 2006.



- Ferlay J, Shin HR, Bray F, Forman D, Mathers C and Parkin DM: Estimates of worldwide burden of cancer in 2008: GLOBOCAN 2008. Int J Cancer 127: 2893-2917, 2010.
- 4. Bowzyk Al-Naeeb A, Ajithkumar T, Behan S and Hodson DJ: Non-Hodgkin lymphoma. BMJ 362: k3204, 2018.
- Kakizaki H, Ichinose I, Takahashi Y, Kang H, Ikeda H, Nakano T, Asamoto K and Iwaki M: Horner's muscle contribution to lacrimal sac drainage. Ophthal Plast Reconstr Surg 28: 145-148, 2012.
- Ciftci F, Dinc UA and Ozturk V: The importance of lacrimal diaphragm and periosteum suturation in external dacryocystorhinostomy. Ophthal Plast Reconstr Surg 26: 254-258, 2010.
- Russell EJ, Czervionke L, Huckman M, Daniels D and McLachlan B: CT of the inferomedial orbit and the lacrimal drainage apparatus: Normal and pathologic anatomy. AJR Am J Roentgenol 145: 1147-1154, 1985.
- J Roentgenol 145: 1147-1154, 1985.
  8. Kitaguchi Y, Takahashi Y, Nakano T, Naito M, Ikeda H, Miyazaki H and Kakizaki H: Distribution of elastic fibers in the lacrimal sac and nasolacrimal duct of Japanese cadavers. Ophthal Plast Reconstr Surg 34: 86-89, 2018.
- Knop E and Knop N: Lacrimal drainage-associated lymphoid tissue (LDALT): A part of the human mucosal immune system. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 42: 566-574, 2001.
- Nakamura K, Uehara S, Omagari J, Kunitake N, Kimura M, Makino Y, Ishigami K and Masuda K: Primary non-Hodgkin's lymphoma of the lacrimal sac: A case report and a review of the literature. Cancer 80: 2151-2155, 1997.
- Neerukonda VK, Stagner AM and Wolkow N: Lymphoma of the Lacrimal Sac: The massachusetts eye and ear experience with a comparison to the previously reported literature. Ophthalmic Plast Reconstr Surg 38: 79-86, 2022.
- Tsao WS, Huang TL, Hsu YH, Chen N and Tsai RK: Primary diffuse large B cell lymphoma of the lacrimal sac. Taiwan J Ophthalmol 6: 42-44, 2016.
- Krishna Y and Coupland SE: Lacrimal Sac Tumors-A Review. Asia Pac J Ophthalmol (Phila) 6: 173-178, 2017.
   Sjö LD, Ralfkiaer E, Prause JU, Petersen JH, Madsen J,
- 14. Sjö LD, Ralfkiaer E, Prause JU, Petersen JH, Madsen J, Pedersen NT and Heegaard S: Increasing incidence of ophthalmic lymphoma in Denmark from 1980 to 2005. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 49: 3283-3288, 2008.
- Carlin R and Henderson JW: Malignant lymphoma of the nasolacrimal sac. Am J Ophthalmol 78: 511-513, 1974.
- Schefler AC, Shields CL, Shields JA, Demirci H, Maus M and Eagle RC Jr: Lacrimal Sac Lymphoma in a Child. Arch Ophthalmol 121: 1330-1333, 2003.
- Liang X, Stork LC and Albano EA: Primary ocular adnexal lymphoma in pediatric patients: Report of two cases and review of the literature. Pediatr Dev Pathol 6: 458-463, 2003.
- Ucgul AY, Tarlan B, Gocun PU and Konuk O: Primary mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue (MALT) lymphoma of the lacrimal drainage system in two pediatric patients. Eur J Ophthalmol 30: NP18-NP23, 2020.
- Köksal Y, Varan A, Hoşal S and Büyükpamukçu M: Hypopharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma in a child. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol 69: 989-991, 2005.
- 20. Besharati MR, Taghipour Zahir S, Hashemi AS and Eshaqhiyeh Z: Malignant lymphoma of lacrimal apparatus in the 7-year-old girl (case report). Iran J Ped Hematol Oncol 1: 159-162, 2011.
- Parikh D, Rodgers R and Kodsi S: Primary lacrimal sac diffuse large B-cell lymphoma in a child. J AAPOS 23: 53-55, 2019.
- 22. Armitage JÓ, Gascoyne RD, Lunning MA and Cavalli F: Non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Lancet 390: 298-310, 2017.
- Johnson SA, Kumar A, Matasar MJ, Schöder H and Rademaker J: Imaging for staging and response assessment in lymphoma. Radiology 276: 323-338, 2015.
- 24. Coupland SE, White VA, Rootman J, Damato B and Finger PT: A TNM-based clinical staging system of ocular adnexal lymphomas. Arch Pathol Lab Med 133: 1262-1267, 2009.
- 25. Swerdlow SH, Campo E, Pileri SA, Harris NL, Stein H, Siebert R, Advani R, Ghielmini M, Salles SG, Zelenetz AD and Jaffe ES: The 2016 revision of the World Health Organization classification of lymphoid neoplasms. Blood 127: 2375-2390, 2016.
- 26. Sabundayo MS, Takahashi Y and Kakizaki H: Lacrimal sac lymphoma: A series of Japanese patients. Eur J Ophthalmol 29: 678-684, 2019.
- Roy SR, Nuruddin M and Hoque F: Diffuse large cell lymphoma of the lacrimal sac may mimic as acute dacryocystitis. Ophthalmol 16: 148-150, 2023.
- Arjamilah MN, Zamli AH, Tai E and Shatriah I: Bilateral Primary Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma of the Lacrimal Sac: A case report. Cureus 14: e29114, 2022.

- 29. Mittal HK: A unique case of primary extranodal Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma of the Lacrimal Sac with Extension to Ipsilateral Nasal Cavity. Int J Otorhinolaryngol Clin 6: 103-105, 2014.
- 30. Kitaguchi Y, Takahashi Y, Mupas-Uy J, Takahashi E and Kakizaki H: Primary Marginal Zone B-Cell Lymphoma of the Mucosa-Associated Lymphoid Tissue of the Lacrimal Sac Found with Epiphora: A case report. Case Rep Ophthalmol 7: 148-154, 2016.
- 31. Singh S, Ali MJ and Paulsen F: Dacryocystography: From theory to current practice. Ann Anat 224: 33-40, 2019.
- Von Goscinski C, Koch KR, Cursiefen C and Heindl LM: Tumors of the lacrimal drainage system. HNO 64: 386-393, 2016 (In German).
- Ansari SA, Pak J and Shields M: Pathology and imaging of the lacrimal drainage system. Neuroimaging Clin N Am 15: 221-237, 2005.
- Koturović Z, Knežević M and Rašić DM: Clinical significance of routine lacrimal sac biopsy during dacryocystorhinostomy: A comprehensive review of literature. Bosn J Basic Med Sci 17: 1-8, 2017.
- International Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma Prognostic Factors Project: A Predictive Model for Aggressive Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma. N Engl J Med 329: 987-994, 1993.
- 36. Ziepert M, Hasenclever D, Kuhnt E, Glass B, Schmitz N, Pfreundschuh M and Loeffler M: Standard International prognostic index remains a valid predictor of outcome for patients with aggressive CD20+ B-cell lymphoma in the rituximab era. J Clin Oncol 28: 2373-2380, 2010.
- 37. Sehn LH, Berry B, Chhanabhai M, Fitzgerald C, Gill K, Hoskins P, Klasa R, Savage JK, Shenkier T, Sutherland J, et al: The revised International Prognostic Index (R-IPI) is a better predictor of outcome than the standard IPI for patients with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma treated with R-CHOP. Blood 109: 1857-1861, 2007.
- Reifler DM, Warzynski MJ, Blount WR, Graham DM and Mills KA: Orbital lymphoma associated with acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS). Surv Ophthalmol 38: 371-380, 1994.
- Douglas RS, Goldstein SM, Katowitz JA, Gausas RE, Ibarra MS, Tsai D, Sharma A and Nichols C: Orbital presentation of posttransplantation lymphoproliferative disorder: A small case series. Ophthalmology 109: 2351-2355, 2002.
   Soman S, Thambi SM and Jacob PM: Lacrimal sac diffuse
- Soman S, Thambi SM and Jacob PM: Lacrimal sac diffuse large B-cell lymphoma: A case report. Indian J Ophthalmol 70: 2618-2620, 2022.
- Jakobiec FA, Zakka FR, Kirzhner M and Kim N: Epstein-Barr Virus-Positive T-Cell lymphoma involving the lacrimal gland of an adult. Arch Ophthalmol 130: 523-525, 2012.
- 42. Cerhan JR, Berndt SI, Vijai J, Ghesquières H, McKay J, Wang SS, Wang Z, Yeager M, Conde L, de Bakker PI, *et al*: Genome-wide association study identifies multiple susceptibility loci for diffuse large B cell lymphoma. Nat Genet 46: 1233-1238, 2014.
- 43. Zhong H, Liu S, Wang Y, Xu D, Li M, Zhao Y and Zeng X: Primary Sjögren's syndrome is associated with increased risk of malignancies besides lymphoma: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Autoimmun Rev 21: 103084, 2022.
- 44. Cerhan JR, Kricker A, Paltiel O, Flowers CR, Wang SS, Monnereau A, Blair A, Maso DL, Kane VE, Nieters A, et al: Medical history, lifestyle, family history, and occupational risk factors for diffuse large B-cell lymphoma: The InterLymph Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma Subtypes Project. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr 2014: 15-25, 2014.
- 45. Rasmussen PK, Ralfkiaer E, Prause JU, Sjö LD, Toft PB, Siersma VD and Heegaard S: Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma of the ocular adnexal region: A nation-based study. Acta Ophthalmol 9: 163-169, 2013.
- 46. Auw-Haedrich C, Coupland SE, Kapp A, chmitt-Gräff A, Buchen R and Witschel H: Long term outcome of ocular adnexal lymphoma subtyped according to the REAL classification. Br J Ophthalmol 85: 63-69, 2001.
- 47. Madge SN, McCormick A, Patel I, Hatef E, Menon V, Prabhakaran VC, Irion L, Banshee R, Honovar S, Leatherbarrow B, *et al*: Ocular adnexal diffuse large B-cell lymphoma: Local disease correlates with better outcomes. Eye (Lond) 24: 954-961, 2010.
- De Palma P, Ravalli L, Modestino R, Grisanti F, Casillo F and Marzola A: Primary lacrimal sac B-cell immunoblastic lymphoma simulating an acute dacryocystitis. Orbit 22: 171-175, 2003.
- Parmar DN and Rose GE: Management of lacrimal sac tumours. Eye (Lond) 17: 599-606, 2003.

- 50. Hughes GK and Miszkiel KA: Imaging of the lacrimal gland. Semin Ultrasound CT MR 27: 476-491, 2006.
- 51. Wang W, Ni X, Tang T, Wang J, Li Y and Song X: The role of 18F-FDG PET/CT in diagnosis and treatment evaluation for ocular adnexal mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue lymphoma. Br J Radiol 95: 20210635, 2022
- 52. Guo P, Yan F, Tian C, Zhao P, Wang Z and Xian J: Imaging and histopathological findings of lacrimal sac lymphomas. Chin Med J (Engl) 127: 120-124, 2014.
- 53. Blombery PA, Wall M and Seymour JF: The molecular pathogenesis of B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Eur J Haematol 95: 280-293, 2015.
- 54. Sun RF, Yu QQ and Young KH: Critically dysregulated signaling pathways and clinical utility of the pathway biomarkers in lymphoid malignancies. Chronic Dis Transl Med 4: 29-44, 2018.
- 55. Rosenwald A, Wright G, Chan WC, Connors JM, Campo E, Fisher RI, Gascoyne DR, Muller-Hermelink HK, Smeland BE, Giltnane JM, et al: The use of molecular profiling to predict survival after chemotherapy for diffuse large-B-cell lymphoma. N Engl J Med 346: 1937-1947, 2002.
- 56. Shen R, Fu D, Dong L, Zhang MC, Shi Q, Shi ZY, Cheng S, Wang L, Xu PP and Zhao WL: Simplified algorithm for genetic subtyping in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. Signal Transduct Target Ther 8: 145, 2023.
- 57. Katchi T and Liu D: Diagnosis and treatment of CD20 negative B cell lymphomas. Biomark Res 5: 5, 2017.
- 58. Hans CP, Weisenburger DD, Greiner TC, Gascoyne RD, Delabie J, Ott G, Muller-Hermelink HK, Campo E, Braziel RM, Jaffe ES, et al: Confirmation of the molecular classification of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma by immunohistochemistry using a tissue microarray. Blood 103: 275-282, 2004.
- 59. Wn Najmiyah WÁW, Azlan H and Faezahtul AH: Classifying DLBCL according cell of origin using Hans algorithm and its association with clinicopathological parameters: A single centre experience. Med J Malaysia 75: 98-102, 2020.
  60. Meng FX, Yue H, Yuan YQ, Zhang R, Yuan YF, Bi YW and
- Qian J: Lacrimal sac lymphoma: A case series and literature review. Int J Ophthalmol 15: 1586-1590, 2022.
- Kadir SMU, Rashid R, Sultana S, Nuruddin M, Nessa MS, Mitra MR and Haider G: Lacrimal Sac Tumors: A case series. Ocul Oncol Pathol 8: 42-51, 2022
- 62. Malzone GM, Di Meglio M, Furgiuele D, Galantuomo N, Alfano S and Mossetti G: Primary non-Hodgkin diffuse large B-cell lymphoma of the lacrimal sac: A rare case of aggressive tumor and literature review. Med Pharm Rep 94: 377-381, 2021.

- 63. Venkitaraman R and George MK: Primary non-Hodgkin's lymphoma of the lacrimal sac. World J Surg Oncol 5: 127, 2007. 64. Tilly H, Gomes da Silva M, Vitolo U, Jack A, Meignan M,
- Lopez-Guillermo A, Walewski J, André M, Johnson PW, Pfreundschuh M, et al: Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL): ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol 26 (Suppl 5): v116-v125, 2015.
- 65. Fernández CA, Henry RK, Shields CL, Bilyk JR, Lally SE, Eagle RC and Milan T: Ocular adnexal lymphoma: A single-institution retrospective study. Saudi J Ophthalmol 35: 230-238 2022
- 66. Rigacci L, Annibali O, Kovalchuk S, Bonifacio E, Pregnolato F, Angrilli F, Vitolo U, Pozzi S, Broggi S, Luminari S, et al: Nonpeghylated liposomal doxorubicin combination regimen (R-COMP) for the treatment of lymphoma patients with advanced age or cardiac comorbidity. Hematol Oncol 38: 478-486, 2020.
- 67. Younes A: New drugs for new targets in lymphoma. Hematol
- Fouries A. New drugs for new targets in Tymphoma. Hemator Oncol 37 (Suppl 1): 105-109, 2019.
   Pinnix CC, Andraos TY, Dabaja B, Milgrom S, Smith G, Chihara D, Ng A, Fayad EL, Oki Y, Neelapu S, *et al*: Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma in very elderly patients over 80 years old: Incorporating consolidative radiation therapy into management decisions. Adv Radiat Oncol 2: 370-380, 2017.
- 69. Goda JS, Le LW, Lapperriere NJ, Millar BA, Payne D, Gospodarowicz MK, Wells W, Hodgson CD, Sun A, Simpson R and Tsang RW: Localized orbital mucosa-associated lymphoma tissue lymphoma managed with primary radiation therapy: Efficacy and toxicity. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 81: e659-e666, 2011.
- 70. Kennerdell JS, Flores NE and Hartsock RJ: Low-dose radiotherapy for lymphoid lesions of the orbit and ocular adnexa. Ophthalmic Plast Reconstr Surg 15: 129-133, 1999.
- 71. Fasola CE, Jones JC, Huang DD, Le QT, Hoppe RT and Donaldson SS: Low-dose radiation therapy  $(2 \text{ Gy} \times 2)$  in the treatment of orbital lymphoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 86: 930-935, 2013.

6	0
$\sim$	BY

Copyright © 2024 Athanasopoulos et al. This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International (CC BY 4.0) License.